Today is March 17, 2014.  This is Fidencio Marbella with the Westchester Public Library in Westchester, Illinois.  Today we will be speaking with Mr. Joseph Jacobson.  Joseph served with the United States Navy from 1943 to 1946.  Some of the theaters he saw action in included Guadalcanal and the Admiralty Islands.  Also present are his wife Joanne, his son Jake (Richard) Jacobson and his daughter-in-law Kris Jacobson.  This interview is being conducted for the Veterans History Project at the Library of Congress.  Okay, let’s go ahead and get started.  Joe, why don’t you tell us a little bit about growing up in Virginia and a little bit about your family?  
All right, but I didn’t grow up in Virginia.

Oh, where did you grow up?

I grew up in Chicago.

Oh, okay.

My father had been an instructor at the University of Tennessee Medical School in Knoxville and he was one of a large group of other faculty and junior faculty that resigned in protest over the Scopes situation in 1924.  Without going into the rest of the story, you’re probably familiar with the story, there was a movie about it and my dad got a graduate fellowship from the University of Chicago and we moved to Chicago in 1924, so I grew up in Chicago for all practical purposes.  It’s considered my home.  Most of my Virginia relatives are dead.  I was born in Stuart’s Circle Hospital.  There’s a big statue of Jeb Stuart in front of the place in Richmond.
Oh, okay, that Stuart.

That Stuart!  Yes, the Army of Northern Virginia and he was the cavalry commander, but that’s beside the point.  I grew up in Chicago, I went to public schools, Kozminski Public School and then I went a couple of years to Hyde Park High School, but then I received a scholarship to the University of Chicago Lab School so I graduated from a university high school in 1939.  After that I went to the University of Chicago and majored in physical sciences and upon graduation I had signed up in the Navy after Pearl Harbor and they called me to active duty.  In 1943 I was sent to the midshipmen’s school at Notre Dame, which was just a couple of months because we were specialists in the particular group I was in.  Actually it was normally for general deck duties but I had a waiver for color vision and the navy would waive one physical problem and you would be given duties where that would not be a problem.  So I was assigned to ordnance duties and I was sent after I was first commissioned, I was sent to the naval gun factory in Washington, DC, the Navy Yard.  After a couple of months there I decided I would be an aviation specialist.  Then I was sent down to the Naval Air Station in Jacksonville, Florida and I spent some time there and upon finishing there they sent me up for temporary duty up in Minneapolis at the Honeywell plant because Honeywell was manufacturing the automatic pilot, which was operated off of the Norden bombsight.  During bomb runs the pilot would release control to the bombardier and the bombardier would fly the plane with the sight over the target area.

Interestingly enough the sight had been developed by Carl Norden who was an employee of the Navy at Dahlgren, Virginia Proving Ground.  We had an awful lot of bombsights but we had no use for them whereas it was very effective for the Army Air Corps who’s mission was high altitude bombing of fixed targets, specifically cities.  The Navy’s mission was really low altitude bombing of moving targets and we got, I guess, every twentieth, yeah, it was about five percent of the B-24s, which were the four-engined bombers that were made in the greatest number.  They were built by Ford at River Rouge.  Ours were adapted for long distance flying, used for long range patrols, so we didn’t, there were two bomb bays in the B-24.  One of them in the Navy case was converted to an auxiliary fuel tank and our fliers could go out on long range patrols of over a thousand miles and back.  When I first got to Guadalcanal that’s where I thought I was going to be, one of the big boat squadrons but the Navy being the Navy, everything there being different,  I was assigned to a carrier aircraft unit, but I had been trained in the various types of planes that we would use ordnance for.  The fighter planes, there were two of them used on the carriers.  The F6F, the Hellcat, which is what Earl Zaeske [Earl Zaeske was his daughter-in-law’s father and a WWII Navy ace] flew and the Vought Corsair, the F4U.  Most of those went to Marine Squadrons because originally they were a little too fast for carrier landings.  Later in the war they modified the designs so both types were used on the carriers.  Carriers also had a torpedo bomber which did more bombing than torpedoing, the TBF, but that has a three man crew.  We also had dive bombers, originally the SBD which had a two man crew and later on the SB2C which was a Curtiss product.  We had a relatively low opinion of Curtiss products.  The SB2C was known as a Son of a Bitch, Second Class.
I’ve read a lot of airmen complaining about the Helldiver.

That’s correct.

Calling it The Beast.

It was.  The only rap on the little SBD was it was small; it didn’t have the range or weight carrying capacity but a far more reliable engine.  Far more reliable plane.  What we used to do as a byproduct in my CASU days, our job was taking care of and repairing land based Navy and Marine Corps planes and what we would do if dive bombers were sadly lost fairly frequently, we had a lot of crashes and damages, we would take the radio gunner’s seat, which was to the rear, and he had a twin .30 caliber machine gun to try to defend the plane against attacks from the rear and we would take these and Guadalcanal was also the headquarters of the 1st Marine Division and we used to give these twin .30 caliber guns, which were not that effective as an aircraft weapon, and they would set them up in their trucks.  They had a big Studebaker truck and they would mount this rotating double mount of twins on the passenger side of their big trucks and it was very effective for the Marines and their trucks.  It was like giving them a small tank, so they were good for that.  For aircraft, the .50 caliber machine gun, which was far more effective, was used in all of our fighter planes, six of these, three in each wing, with four hundred rounds of ammunition for each gun.  That’s what we did; we’d mount all that in the wing.  Ammunition was in disintegrating belts fed in automatically by the pilot.  All the pilot would do is turn on the gun and fire the gun but we had prepared everything for him with the feed into the individual guns and four hundred rounds per gun was only thirty seconds of ammunition so fighter pilots were trained to just take short shots because they only had a few seconds if there was an active target anyway.   Once in a while we would get an over eager guy who would just press that trigger down and he would use up all his ammunition in one fell swoop, which then we had to replace and repair the guns because the chambers in the barrels were puffed out like balloons from the heat because they couldn’t cool them off that fast even in the air with louvered covered barrels so we had to replace a lot of guns, usually it was eager, young ensigns that wanted to demonstrate their capabilities.  We kept a good supply of .50 caliber machine guns on hand to replace in the wings of the fighters.

I also had the unwelcome job of running a gas chamber.  We were all trained with gas masks and to be on the lookout for poison gas, which was never used, in any case, in the Pacific.  We would set up a tent and then the various members of the organization would have to put on a mask and walk through there and we would use tear gas in the training because it was irritating but actually not harmful except maybe in a sweaty area like under your collar or your sleeve you might get some irritation.  Tear gas was quite safe.  I think we had some mustard gas in Lewisite but fortunately we never had to use it.  My job involved running one of these training things.  Of course I was not very popular, nobody likes to be tear-gassed but it actually wasn’t that serious, it was just a few minutes.

I also trained on a pistol range with a .45 automatic but that didn’t matter either because you couldn’t shoot that out of an airplane but it was a good pistol.  It’s no longer the standard.  I guess now the services use, I think a Glock or a Beretta, foreign made, but I liked the Colt.  The one that I was issued was a genuine Colt.  It was a good gun, I liked it but we had relatively few targets for .45s because we weren’t the infantry either, but we carried them.  I had a belt with a .45 and a couple of clips of ammunition, which I really didn’t have much use for.  I turned it in when I came home from overseas, got a receipt for it so they wouldn’t come back with a bill later on.  I had the experience of getting billed for a uniform I never bought from the naval supply depot after I, for a couple of years, was a civilian.  I got a nasty letter from the naval uniform depot in Philadelphia demanding I pay for the uniform that I bought but I never bought a uniform, so I think we finally decided it was a similar name.  There were probably dozens of Joseph Jacobsons.  I finally got off the hook.  Kept trying to compare my serial numbers to prove I didn’t then they started using my serial number on the bills, but that was typical of the way things went.  My father had been in both world wars.  During WWII he was a Navy doctor and all of his friends who were OB-GYN men were on the frontlines and the orthopedic guys were delivering babies in hospitals.  That was the way of the world in those days.  That was what snafu really meant.

Oh, you want me to continue, I’m digressing, which is a problem I have.

No, not at all.  This is great.

After the naval gun factory, finished at Honeywell, which was just for a month, then we were detached and sent to San Diego to the fleet air headquarters and most of the guys I trained with ended up on escort aircraft carriers, which we used to call jeeps, and I was kind of hoping that I would get on a jeep carrier because the Navy had built about sixty of them.  Most of my classmates went to them.  I ended up getting stuck on a merchant tanker and went across to, let’s see, we put in first to Samoa and then shortly after we landed and unloaded the cargo at Espiritu Santo in the New Hebrides.  We carried ten thousand gallons of aviation gasoline.  No, it was four million gallons, ten thousand barrels.  Aviation gasoline was 130 octane.  We didn’t have any jets in those days, just piston engines, and we also had about fifteen airplanes cabled to dunnage across the tanks, so we were delivering planes and ammunition to Espiritu Santo, which was a major supply depot and then that was distributed from there.  

After we finally got reassigned, I got reassigned to CASU-14 in Guadalcanal.  My buddy was assigned to CASU-10, stayed where we were.  I got up to Guadalcanal, which was famous for being a place where you could be up to your ankles in mud with dust blowing in your face.  By the time we got there it was secure and our major injury worries were malaria and we used to have to take what was called an Atabrine pill every morning with breakfast to try and prevent malaria.  Some of the guys got sick and got jaundice from the Atabrine but I never did, I just ate it along with my powdered eggs and the other goodies we used to have.  We would take care of several jeep carriers that put in.  We had some of the original ones which were called the showboats.  There were four of them that had actually been owned by Esso, which is now called Exxon and were turned over to the Navy.  They would modify them, build an aircraft carrier deck on them and convert it.  These were known as CVEs, they were escort carriers, and they were very effective. They helped to eliminate the German submarine damage in the Atlantic and we used them effectively providing air cover for landings in the Pacific. They turned out to be very good and I was sorry I didn’t get, most of my classmates, but three of them were sunk but fortunately they all survived the sinkings.  One of them was sunk by a Japanese battleship.  He had one five inch gun back on the stern to defend themselves and that was no match for the Japanese battleship. 

Was that off of Leyte Gulf?

Yes, one of them was sunk in Leyte, the Gambier Bay, but another one, the fellow was a roommate of mine when we got back to Jacksonville afterwards was on one that was sunk by a kamikaze, but he survived the sinking.  He said the guy hit them down enough decks that he knocked off both the water main and the standby water main.  The ship’s on fire and they had to get off because the biggest danger with an aircraft carrier fire was your own ammunition and fuel.  They carried thousands of gallons of aviation gasoline, which was even more explosive than jet fuel, plus torpedoes, bombs and all the other ammunition for both the planes and the ship itself.  If an aircraft carrier was on fire, it was the sight of a Roman candle.  About the only one that survived a major fire was the carrier Franklin, a first class Essex class.  But they brought her back to the states.  I guess they replaced her entire flight deck in the Brooklyn Navy Yard.  They took one off a new one under construction and put it back on the Franklin.  That was Essex class; they were the first line carriers.  Most of my acquaintances and classmates were on the little jeeps.  A jeep would carry about forty planes, about half that flew from a regular aircraft carrier, which would operate normally seventy-five or eighty planes.  They would have what they called a composite squadron on a jeep.  It would have maybe a dozen to fifteen torpedo bombers or occasionally dive bombers and the rest twenty some odd fighter planes so they could do patrol and can also provide good air support for invasions.  They could get in real close to the shore which the big aircraft carriers couldn’t, they had too deep a draft.  They were very handy.  The jeeps were well thought of but Time magazine didn’t think much of them because most of them were assigned to the 7th Fleet to MacArthur.  Time magazine was a very fond supporter of General MacArthur and didn’t think much of the Navy and referred to the 7th Fleet as MacArthur’s Water Department.  That’s the way it was.  They also referred to the Navy’s Bureau of Ordnance, which we were under, as the Potomac Gun Club.  Time/Life was not very fond of the Navy for whatever reason.  They loved MacArthur.  I think Henry Luce and MacArthur were personal friends.
Basically, our duties tended to be routine, not much happening, but occasionally there was an attack but most often as not it wasn’t even a raid.  I think the greatest hazard we had, there were a couple of ammunition dump explosions on the other side of the island.  I was in two of those on Guadalcanal.  We didn’t have the real good facilities for storing bombs and such so most of the bombs were generally on wooden dunnage sitting right there in the jungle.
Sitting out in the open?

Out in the open.  We lived generally in Quonset huts which were nice because when a coconut came down on you it didn’t go through like it would in a tent, so we would hear them bouncing off at night.  We all had to have ample supplies of mosquito netting.  As often as not we’d have rats and lizards going up and down but it kept the mosquitoes out.  We had a high incidence of malaria in my outfit but I seemed to be immune for one reason or another, probably the Atabrine.  After about, oh, it must have been nine months, first in the CASU and then in the repair unit, they shipped me out to the Admiralties in December of ’44 and I was on another CASU there.  We were on a very small island off of Manus in the Admiralties and we only had a three thousand foot runway and it was fine for carrier planes but I came in on it with a couple of crazy guys, gave me a lift from Los Negros, which was a little larger island in the Admiralties.  Flew us down to Ponam and he called in to the tower saying what are the landing instructions and the guy said we don’t know.  We never had one of these before.  It was what we called the R4D in the Navy.  It was also the C-47 in the Army.  It was actually the workhorse for cargo and personnel and all the transports carrying them, basically the DC-3.  A lot of them still had the passenger windows because they’d been acquired from the various airlines.  It was a good old airplane.  It would come in and somehow or other this guy, crazy guy, landed it at one end of the runway and taxied to the end and we gratefully got out to Ponam without any trouble.  I was the one passenger and the other passenger was a civilian who had been a pilot and he was a representative for the Holley Carburetor Company.  It was interesting because we had all Stromberg carburetors and we never had a Holley Carburetor but this poor guy had to go down to Ponam with me.  I spent the rest of the time there and after, oh, it must have been late spring of ’45 they decided they would just take us apart, ship us and give the Admiralties back to the British Navy, who had run it prior.  I simply got detached and came home on a Navy cargo ship.  Arrived in San Francisco on April 12 I guess.  It was the day after President Roosevelt died so things were kind of quiet in San Francisco that day.  From there on I had a thirty day leave at home during which time the European war ended, the Germans surrendered in May and then I went back to Jacksonville for supposedly retraining because we were expected to go out again.  We had absolutely; we had never heard of the Manhattan Project, we knew nothing about the Bomb or anything like that.  Just before I left Jacksonville, which was about in late August, was when they dropped the Hiroshima bomb, so I was actually in Jacksonville at VJ-Day, which was about the fifteenth of September.  In the meantime my father was on his hospital ship and he was in Tokyo Bay.  He followed the New Jersey, which was Admiral Halsey’s flagship, into Tokyo Bay.  Admiral Halsey hated the Japanese so he kept, all the guns were loaded so if there was any problem, he would just level the harbor, but it wasn’t necessary.  It was a peaceful arrival.
My father’s duties involved doing water safety checks for water that had been up in Hiroshima and Nagasaki that followed, to see whether the water would be safe to drink and that sort of stuff.  My dad was a pathologist so he ran the laboratory side of the ship, which was the Benevolence, which was one of the Haven class.  Sadly enough it was sunk being fitted out for the Korean War in a later accident, a collision with a freighter in San Francisco Bay.  I digress.

After we were in Jacksonville then we had to have something to do with us until we got our points up and I was sent up to the naval air test center which is at Patuxent River, Maryland, it’s just south of Washington, D.C.  It’s basically the Navy’s equivalent of Wright Field, which is the Air Force’s major training and development.  I spent about the rest of my active duty there working on primarily bomb sights, not sights, but bomb racks and shackles which were used a lot, but then we put bomb racks on a lot of our fighter planes because they would carry bombs and became fighter-bombers.  The F6F was very effective at that.  We also would load up gasoline tanks, auxiliary gas tanks which were carried on bomb racks on the fighters.  They would hold one hundred and sixty one gallons so we would gel the gasoline with napalm which was a pretty nasty thing to do to anybody.  Napalm raids just about destroyed most every city in Japan we went after.  We didn’t really need the Hiroshima or Nagasaki bombs.  We’d done enough damage with just the fires alone by then; they would set up a firestorm that destroyed an entire city.  This was done by the B-29s or the carrier planes, which by late ’45 or certainly by the middle of ’45, I think it started in about March, we started bombing Japan directly.  
By then they’d taken the Marianas in June of 1944, Saipan Tinian and Guam.  We got Guam back since it was ours originally and then Tinian was used as the primary landing and takeoff area for the B-29s which had considerably better range than anything we had.  It also had the same Honeywell autopilot that had been used in the B-17 and B-24.  So it was standard procedure, I had a couple of friends who were bombardiers in England in the 8th Air Force in B-17s.  The pilot would release it to the bombardier and he was actually flying the plane.  That was the beauty of the Norden bombsight but in the Navy a good percentage of the ones we had, they put one in every torpedo plane, the TBF.  It was a crazy design because there was a tunnel in the back where the radioman and the gunner sat and the bombsight was behind the bomb bay.  So in order for them to use it, I don’t know what idiot came up with that, but I guess they figured we owed Carl Norden a lot so they bought a tremendous number of bombsights from him and with us it became a nuisance because just before a TBF would take off to go back to a carrier or something, all of a sudden the little side door would open and out came the top half with the Norden bombsight dropped on the side of the runway, closed the door, they took off never to be seen again.  So we had the dubious privilege of storing them in what we had, hot lockers which were basically small lockers with about a two hundred watt light bulb in there to keep everything dry so that we’d have all these sights with their delicate and expensive optical equipment which would fill up with mildew.  We used to keep the things dry because they never came back for their bombsights once they dumped them.  I don’t know how many we had.  

I know I had two hundred fifty thousand rounds of .50 caliber ammunition, some of which wasn’t usable because it had split neck cartridges or something.  That’s the way they came to us from the Army arsenals who supplied us.  The bombsights were always the sad thing.  I don’t know how many of them, the Navy never really had any use for them.  We had them in a lot of airplanes but to my knowledge never got turned on because we never had a target.  Our guys were going against moving targets and generally the pilot with his gun sight got an optical because we were down, our guys were down.  Once in a while I would be a passenger in an airplane but I never was involved in any raids or anything worthwhile.  So we used to just kind of be a warehouse to take care of all this ammunition and stuff, a lot of which never was used.  That’s was the way it was.  When the war came to an end I don’t know how much of that stuff had to be destroyed.  The standard procedure was to take it out in deep water in a landing barge and go over the side because one thing about bombs, they sank quickly once you dropped them.  We dumped a tremendous amount of ammunition, cartridge cases, and links from the machine gun rolls ended up in the Pacific Ocean.  A lot of it’s still there I guess, a lot of brass.  That’s basically what it is, I had a relatively dull routine set of duties and even when I got back, we had nothing of any particular importance.  At Patuxent we did a lot of tests.  The most dangerous thing we did was captured enemy material which we had.  The only operational jet in WWII was the Messerschmitt 262 and we had two of them that were brought back to Patuxent after the war and they could out fly anything we had at the time.  We were just getting our first jets, experimental jets, but none of them were available until the Korean War.  I guess the British had one at the end of WWII but the only one that was ever really effective was the German one.  Fortunately for our side they had shortages of manpower and material and couldn’t build very many of them.  They only had a couple of squadrons and we were told, I don’t know whether it was true, that Hitler was mad at Goring because the RAF had defeated him and so he wouldn’t let him have more fighter planes because these were a defensive weapon.  He preferred to concentrate all their efforts on missiles which they did successfully.  The V-1 could be shot down by the British Spitfire but the V-2 was supersonic.  They did a lot of damage in England late in the war with the V-2, which was Hitler’s personal choice.  Luckily for us there were, the occasional 262 would appear.  To my knowledge, occasionally the Army Air Corps P-38, the Lockheed twin boom, it’s a very fast airplane, were known to shoot down at least one or two 262s.  I think a P-51 probably could keep up with it but nobody could outperform it.  Our test pilots at Patuxent enjoyed taking up a 262 and taking on a Hellcat or a Corsair with the 262 but the interesting thing I noted about a lot of the German products which we examined, and Japanese too, was that they were using substitute materials.  It’s amazing how many wooden parts they had to have because Germany had problems getting both petroleum and also having their steel mills keep going but they were able to come up with some pretty ingenious things and I also developed a respect for the Japanese because we had always been taught, propaganda-wise, that all the Japanese equipment was junk and that they didn’t know what they were doing.
One of my guys at CASU-14 had been sunk on the original carrier Wasp and his comment on the Japanese was quote “They was hittin’ where they was lookin’” and very high quality, their optics and everything else.  Their torpedoes were far better than what we had.  Early in the war we had a terrible time with torpedoes.  They would hit a target and bounce off and sink without exploding or they would go around in circles and come back.  There was at least one case of one hitting its own submarine.  We did a lot of work on aerial torpedoes and by the end of the war we could drop, have one drop from a thousand feet and still land and effectively go, but early on we had a lot of problems with torpedoes.  The Japanese had what they called the Long Lance torpedo and they operated very effectively from destroyers.  They had good submarines but not many of them fortunately for us.  We didn’t have too many problems with Japanese submarines except for, sadly, very late in the war.  The cruiser Indianapolis was sunk by a Japanese submarine but most of the time the Japanese would use their torpedoes very effectively from their destroyers.  They had good torpedoes.  We lost a lot of hardware there that we wouldn’t have if we’d been able to fight back; later on in the war we corrected a lot of our problems.  At the very end of the war, a couple of years after the war I had occasion to, on civilian business, to visit what was then the Navy ordnance plant up on, I guess it was off of Harlem Avenue and it was operated there and when you went in the lobby, what they had in the lobby was a glass case and in it was what I thought was a perfect Norden bombsight.  This was a Japanese made copy and they copied it just perfectly because they had copied the sights from planes that were damaged in the original Philippine, it’s a long story how MacArthur right after Pearl Harbor would not allow them to bomb Formosa, now Taiwan.  Most of his B-17s were destroyed on the ground.  The Japanese got their hands on plenty of Norden bombsights and had perfected a copy by 1942.

That was very early in the war.

Yes, they copied it almost immediately, so I guess they were using them for themselves by then.  It was a good bombsight.  I digress.

Not at all, this is great information.

[RJ]  He told me the story about some of the guys landing on Guadalcanal and bombs dropping down from the bomb bay.

We had one case, yes.  This was later.  He had actually been, this was a TBF that had been coming right up in New Georgia which was the next island north of Guadalcanal in the Solomons.  The landings there were made in August of ’43 and we had a plane come back.  It was a Marine TBF with a three man crew and again, some idiot at the Bureau had come up with an idea that we can carry extra bombs.  There were twelve bomb shackles in the bomb bay of a TBF.  They were used for bombs a lot more than torpedoes.  Torpedoes were only used occasionally and with twelve shackles that meant we could carry twelve one hundred pound bombs.  Some genius decided, well, if you just wire a third bomb between it, the plane could carry the weight and that way you can carry eighteen one hundred pound bombs.  They had them try this and the guy had landed and my ordnance men were just waiting to go to chow, pick up the guys and they were sitting out there with a jeep when this guy taxis up and the last thing before a pilot would turn the engine off is open the bomb bay door because he still had the power to do it.  This was a Marine major.  He opened the door and three live bombs dropped out, hit the floor and that was the end of the plane and about twelve people were killed in action because some genius who had the idea and we fought against that at Patuxent later too.  
We had a guy come through and have us test if they could do without putting sway bracing on the bomb.  Just let it hang.  Normally a couple of braces to keep it rigid and again some pencil pusher at the Bureau decided we could save the weight of the sway bracing.  Just let the bombs hang.  When they do they kind of swing like a pendulum and I had two of my test guys, both of whom were war heroes.  One of them, Commander [Herbert Norman] Houck, had been commander of an air group, Air Group 9, which sank the Japanese battleship Yamato.   He came back and he was madder than hell.  He said “This is the most stupid thing I’ve ever seen.”  He said “When you can get into a dive you can’t keep your point of aim.  It’s all you can do to keep the whole plane from swinging back and forth.”  We decided we’d give a bad report for that idea.  I had another one of our pilots say “Who came up with that one?”  It wasn’t us.  We’re just doing what they told us to do, try it.  After one test with these two pilots, uh uh!  Forget that, keep the sway braces.  If you’re going to put bombs out on an open wing, don’t let them swing around like pendulums.  Some of these ideas, they’d come from these guys, we used to call these guys feather merchants.  Once in a while when I was overseas we’d have some guy come through and he had on a clean, ironed uniform and he was from the Pentagon.  By coming out and making inspection tours around they could be out of the country for thirty days so they could wear the Pacific area ribbon.  So, a couple of those guys came by and they had that kind of idea.  It was very nice, we sent them back to their desk and just leave them there and not listen to them.  But that was the way it was.  We’re sitting there in our wrinkled clothes and our dirty shoes.  We used to wear Marine Corps field shoes, which were the first shoes that had the inside of the leather out, so they were better for waterproofing.  We used to wear them all the time and when I first got home from overseas my feet hurt going back to regular shoes because they were so comfortable.  It took me about a month to get used to wearing shoes again back in San Francisco.
There were always those things about, all the old jokes about snafu and tarfu and all those.  It’s true, it’s true.  Some of our major problems, even the Chinese complained during the Korean War was America has so many people that are just clerks and everything else, not that many people actually doing the fighting.
[RJ]  When you flew back did you fly back with a guy that had been hurt?  Lost an arm?

Yeah, but he was on a ship.  I came home on a . . .

[RJ]  But did you travel with him for like twelve hours?

More than that, three weeks.  I came home on a ship; it was a Navy cargo ship, which could have been a model for that movie Mr. Roberts.  But this was a young fellow, it was very sad.  He was an eighteen year old pilot and when he could come in he said the Landing Signal Officer waved him off, he wasn’t coming in right but he wanted to land.  He was a little jittery and he missed the corner of the plane and he went off into the water, which was seventy-five feet or so down.  He had been trained if you hit the water the first thing you do, your hatch was back already when you came in for a landing, the first thing you do is you unhook your seatbelt and roll out of the plane because it’s going to sink.  I mean this stuff they had flotation was a lot of bull.  They sank when they went in.  The sad part was he didn’t have an arm.  He lost his arm when he went off the side of the plane.  I guess it had been sheared off from the side of the carrier.  He fell off the carrier and hit the water.  He had to fish around with his right hand to get his belt off because all of a sudden his arm was gone right at the shoulder.  He was a young fellow and he told me he was an orphan which was very sad, growing up an orphan.  He was just completely injured.  They saved him, they were able to stop the bleeding but he was without an arm at a young age, young kid.  I always felt very sorry for him because it turned out the guys that were the other passengers on this cargo ship with us, there were seven of us were all heading back to the naval hospital in Oakland.  I didn’t know that until we got into San Francisco and the bus came to pick him up and I said “Can you take me?” He said “Nope.  You’re not on the manifest.”  The other guys were all hospital patients going back and so I had to take my sea bag and my parachute bag and it was maybe a half a mile up to the street to get a bus back to the 12th Naval District to find out what they wanted to do with me.  It was interesting he couldn’t give me a ride up to the street because I wasn’t on the supply list taking these guys over to the naval hospital.  But he was one of the fellows; there were a couple of old-timers. It was sad.  They were regular Navy guys.  One had been the chief engineer on an aircraft carrier and the other one had been a gunnery officer on a destroyer and they had the shakes.  They had what we would now call PTSD.  They both had been at sea and one of them had something like fifteen years of sea duty with no land and these were old men too.  They were probably fiftyish at the time.  They were also going to Oakland too, the naval hospital.  I was the only one that wasn’t.  Had to walk up to the street and find my way back to the 12th Naval District and find out what they wanted to do with me next.  It was of no importance really.  I survived all that.
He still could have given you a ride.

Yeah, the bus, he could have taken me up the street so I didn’t have to, but he was carrying out his orders; there was nothing you could do.  He was a driver for the naval hospital and his orders were to pick up six guys and not seven.  I was the odd man out so I had to walk up and haul my sea bag.  I had all this canvas stuff, luckily we didn’t carry big suitcases or anything else because we had all our worldly goods could be packed into a sea bag, which is a duffel bag.  Whatever you want is always on the bottom.  That’s the way it was.

Not much of a homecoming for you.

No, no, I hear about people get welcomed, waiting for them at the airport and they shake their hands and thank them for their service.  It was a bus that goes down the street, oh, okay, get the bus.  That was my glorious homecoming.  I was just glad to be back in the U.S.   It felt good except for my feet because I had to put on my regular shoes again and had to leave my other ones off because I would have been out of uniform which was ridiculous because I had my khakis anyway.  While I was there I bought a green uniform and they had something called aviation winter working green and I’ve got some pictures of those.  It looks something like a Marine Corps uniform except we had black insignia, black stripes.  That was what we normally wear around the naval air station, particularly in the winter.  Once in a while if you’d be having an inspection or something we’d wear our blues or if summer in Jacksonville we’d wear white.  Most of the time around the naval air station it’d be green and the enlisted men generally wore dungarees, which are blue jeans, because those were work clothes, these were our work clothes.  That’s all there was too it.  That’s really all I have to say.  Probably not very interesting.
No, it was very interesting.

I was always frustrated.  I was in the Navy and wanted to be on a ship.  They never got me on a ship.  They just shipped me off to another island.  I suspected they were trying to get rid of me.  But I’ve got some pictures of some of the people.
[RJ]  If they had wanted to get rid of you they would have put you on a ship.

They probably would have.  When they sank everybody didn’t make it off.  This one classmate of mine, he was actually, ended up, he was my roommate on the return trip to Jacksonville.  He was real nice, quiet spoken guy from upper New York State.  The Ommaney Bay was his ship.  That was the one that got sunk by a kamikaze.  He said, “Yeah.  The skipper was a big hero.  We didn’t have any water.”  He said the skipper orders everybody to abandon ship, “which we had to do.  The damn thing was on fire.”  We’re all out there swimming around and the next thing you know is a couple of weeks later he hears the skipper got the Navy Cross for telling everyone let’s get overboard guys.  That’s the way it is.  He said “That was one of the most stupid things I ever heard.”  

When I came back on this cargo ship, this cargo ship could have been the model for the movie Mister Roberts.  It was actually funny because we never saw the skipper.  He was, I guess, a merchant marine captain that was in command, although it was a Navy cargo ship and the only time we would ever see him was if the weather was warm coming back from the tropics, he would spend most of his time on a canvas cot up on the very top bridge, the flag bridge.  Every once in a while, a hand would reach down from the cot and pick up a fifth of whiskey.  Actually, whiskey was in quarts in those days and the bottle would go up and the bottle would come back down.  We never saw the man in person.  It was the executive officer of the ship who was running the ship and the first lieutenant was a guy that took a liking to me.  His name was Olson.  My name was Jacobson.  He decided we should be buddies and he could have been the model for Mr. Roberts.  He was a great guy and we got along real fine and we were together for about three weeks.  I was with these seven guys and we were up on the deck but we were below the skipper and never saw the guy.  We would just see his hand reach down for his bottle.  I guess, Olson told me, “I guess you realize by now our captain drinks a lot.”  I said, “Yeah, I understood that.”
When my father was first called up, he was called up immediately, January of ’42, and he was executive officer of the medical department at Navy Pier, which was then a major transfer point for Navy and Marine Corps personnel coming through Chicago.  He was executive of the medical department, but his commander was a regular navy medical captain and my dad would have to send the ambulance out for the captain once in a while over to the hotels on the north side and pick him up.  “The captain’s at the cocktail lounge.  Bring him back!”  That’s one thing I learned about regular navy.  The guys, they are not hesitant about taking a drink.  They really like the sauce.  Even when I was first in CASU-14 I had a warrant, my immediate subordinate was a warrant officer, been in the Navy for twenty some odd years.  He was one of the original aviation ordnance men, trained as a gunner’s mate and then when they started aviation training in the twenties, he was one of the first ordnance men.  He had a little bit of a drinking problem and he sold me the jeep for a bottle of whiskey.  I couldn’t drink much in those days so I had a quart of bourbon.  I gave him the bourbon and he gave me the jeep.  So I had transportation.  He was regular navy and he was as good as it gets.

That was a great trade.

Oh yeah, I thought it was a pretty fair trade because within a day or two he was done and I could use the jeep for a couple of months.  That was something.  But I always learned that about the Navy.  
[RJ]  Right out of the TV show MASH.

Absolutely.  Absolutely.  Some of these real things could have happened and as I said, I saw Mister Roberts later.   My God, this could have been the USS Syrma, which I came home on, including the captain, who was a problem and of course that was when Jack Lemmon got his first star role.  He played Ensign Pulver.  Ensign Pulver, he was the guy that put ball bearings in the overhead over the captain’s cabin and those ball bearings would roll back and forth.  This ship actually could have been the model for it.  

When I went out it was on a merchant tanker.  They were a little more serious.  The skipper of that was a guy twenty-six years old.  He’d been transferred to Pacific duty by the shipping company.  I guess he’d worked with; he’d been skipper of a tanker on the Atlantic side.  He had taken a tanker up to the Russian warm weather port of Murmansk and he was one of five ships out of fifty-five in the group that made it all the way to Russia.  He was one of the five, so he was given the chance to calm down and come back so he was the skipper of the tanker.  He was the one that issued me my certificate when we crossed the equator and when we crossed the dateline.  I didn’t bring those.  I thought they were kind of ridiculous.  They’re framed but I figured you’d heard of those before anyway.  So that’s pretty much my story.
Did you have to go through that whole ceremony when you cross the equator?

Oh yeah, absolutely.
What was that like?

Oh, it was a little messy.  We were a little north of Samoa when we crossed the equator and the crew, the merchant crew, only four or five of us were Navy, we were all ensigns so nobody liked us.  We were stripped down and we wore our shorts and we were given a fish, so big, and we had to carry our fish around during the ceremony and they decided we all needed haircuts.  They put a mixture of STA grease, always had aboard ships, and they smeared it all through our hair and you couldn’t get it out.  When we put in to Samoa, Tutuila, which is American Samoa and we were there for a day or so and the tanker crew, I don’t know if they unloaded or what the purpose was but anyway, the rest of us marched over to, the Marine Corps had a barbershop there and we just ended up with haircuts like this because there was no way we ever going to get that crap out of our hair.  All of us became bald-headed.  You could always tell when guys had just arrived because they were always bald-headed.  They had all been through the ceremony for the equator and ended up, you were a mess one way or another because you had to carry around this thing and then you were tried before the jury and Davy Jones and King Neptunus Rex.  But we passed it, we survived.  They never made much about the International Date Line; we lost a day but picked it up going back.  It was like Daylight Savings, you picked up and on your return trip you get your day back but other than that, that’s really about all there was.  
So rank didn’t matter, everyone went through it.

Absolutely, oh, they loved to get an ensign.  I was as dumb and stupid as an ensign gets.  In the movies and TV, ensigns and army second lieutenants are always doing all kinds of idiotic, stupid things, and I did!  I really did.  I was very serious.  They had a phony deal on there.  We thought they said that a Jap raider was in the area and he was coming after us.  So genius here, I went in and I asked the captain, I said what happens if they do?  Well, we might be in trouble if they did.  So, I told him, I had these papers in my hand and I said I have the drawings of the Norden bombsight.  Maybe I better dump them overboard right now.  He said oh no, he said let’s just hold on to them.  I walked out and I can hear him laughing.  What an idiot!  Here I’m going to throw all this stuff overboard so they won’t fall into enemy hands and it turned out it was a false alarm.  Didn’t have anything wrong.  The next morning we, one of my friends and I, stood watch with the guys in case there were any German submarines, there were no German submarines.
Japanese?

Japanese submarines.  I don’t think the Japanese would have bothered with it.  They never hit this tanker.  If they did it would have been a real Roman candle.   It was 100,000 barrels, that’s over four million gallons of 130 octane fuel.  On fire we all would have been up in orbit by then but nothing ever happened, it turned out it was a false alarm.  When we got to Samoa we knew there wasn’t any problem.  In Samoa after our haircuts we went on to Espiritu Santo.  That was interesting, had an interesting experience there too.  There had been almost no fighting.  The Japanese had been at Espiritu Santo and when the Americans landed from Australia there wasn’t any fighting, really, because the Japanese took off for the hills and so I asked one of the guys there, who’s a native, is there any chance that the Japanese could come back because the Japanese made the mistake of mistreating all the natives when they took these islands whereas we didn’t.  We had natives cooperate.  So I said “Is there any danger that the Japanese might come back?”  This guy, had a big smile on his face, he said, “Oh no, they went in the hills.  All the tribes up there are cannibals.  No more Japanese.”  Got it, got the message!  That was the way it was.  I had some crazy pictures of some of these.  That was there.  That was me on Guadalcanal.  Let’s see, here’s some of my guys.  This was the aviation repair unit; I’m on the second row over on the end.  This was where I lived on Guadalcanal.  We had little huts and that’s Henderson Field in the background.
Okay, so you were based at Henderson Field then?

We were a mile away.  There was my ordnance crew mounted on a, that was an F4U Vought Corsair fighter plane but you can’t see much of the airplane.

I didn’t realize they’re that big of an airplane.

Oh yeah, those fighters, one man flew that thing.

Did you have any favorite aircraft that you worked on?

Yeah, the TBF, the torpedo plane.  By then they were being, Grumman couldn’t keep up with concentrating all their manufacturing on the fighter planes, the F6Fs, so the torpedo bombers and the few Wildcats they still had, the old F4F, which was what O’Hare flew when he got his Congressional Medal, were turned over to Eastern Aircraft, which was General Motors.  So from then on the F4F then became the FM-2 and the TBF became the TBM4 and that just meant different, because of the Navy coding the last letter was the manufacturer’s code, so we had a lot of our planes were TBMs and we didn’t have any F4Fs, we had F6Fs which still remained there because Grumman was still building those.  But it was interesting.  I liked the TBF.  It was the same plane that later on President Bush, H.W. Bush flew.
Oh, when he was shot down.

He was shot down and luckily for him he got picked up by a submarine because that particular Japanese island, they would behead him.

He lost his crew though, didn’t he?

Well, his crew was killed in the crash.  He had to parachute down to safety, whatever hit them wrecked the whole plane but he was lucky that he was waiting and a submarine picked him up because we had the Lifeguard submarines following along the areas.  He was close enough to Chichi Jima that had they gotten him they would have executed him.  I don’t know how many prisoners, after the war, it took a couple of years but they finally got the Japanese commanders and they were hanged at Guam, but it wasn’t until 1947.  They’d been on trial and that was a bad place and luckily for him he did survive but his crew was lost.  It wasn’t his fault, he had to parachute down.  He was only about eighteen or nineteen years old too.  Lot of wreckage because even under good conditions aircraft carriers, the big ones and the little ones, there was a lot of damage to the planes.  It was a very risky, dangerous thing to do and of course a guy coming in for a landing was like trying to land on a postage stamp, a moving postage stamp which was why Earl, Kris’ father, was trained and we trained our carrier pilots with two former excursion steamers, the Sable and the Wolverine and Earl trained on one of those.  They’d fly out of Glenview and do their landings and that way they got really well trained because they would land on a moving target at sea and that was a break because otherwise there were carrier landing strips which were just on the field, but that wasn’t the same as the advantage they had of being able to land on a moving vessel.  There’s still an awful lot of planes between Highland Park and Lake Forest in Lake Michigan.
[RJ]  Tell him the story about why we never went camping as kids.

Oh, because I’d done enough camping.  I’ve lived under canvas for I don’t know how many times, although I was lucky it was a Quonset hut but in Ponam in the Admiralties I lived under canvas.  We had these pyramid tents we called them and I was there with three other officers and one of them, one of my roommates was the flight surgeon.  He was a real nice guy and another one had been a flight instructor at the Naval Air Station in Corpus Christi and the fourth was nuts.  We thought this guy was crazy.

[RJ]  The story that I was trying to get to was after the rats and the lizards and the mosquitoes, you decided you were never sleeping outside again.
That’s right, I didn’t go for camping, I mean when I was a Boy Scout I’d sleep under the stars but I preferred not to.  At Guadalcanal we never had any snakes but we had tremendous lizards and rats and they’d be running up and down on the mosquito netting so we were happy to have netting but that was just the way it was, but it was a volcanic island and you were always in mud with dust blowing in your face.  It was the only place in the world I’ve ever been where that happens.  By then, I’m glad we didn’t have to go up the hill because we had this, well when I show you, cabins were at the top of what was called Lunga Point and that area behind us was Raider’s Ridge, which was where the 1st Marine Raider Battalion had held off an attack.  The Japanese came up the steep hill and the Marines would pull the pins from their grenades and roll them down the hill, but that was the kind of stuff that had gone on in the jungle, very difficult to deal with.  The Marines had a solution to that too.  There’d be Jap snipers up in the coconut trees because a lot of these islands had coconut plantations.  That was their mission in the world.  They usually had an Australian manager.  Japanese snipers would strap themselves up in the trees up among the palm fronds, so the Marines came in and they would take a BAR, Browning Automatic Rifle, and knock off the top and every once in a while there’d be a Jap sniper hanging by the belt.  That was effective.
So what was it like living on Guadalcanal with a bunch of Marines?  

Well, we had a lot of sailors.  We were mostly sailors.  We didn’t have any girls!  Lots and lots of guys.  Once in a while there would be a USO show and they’d have a few girls but most of the others were burlesque comedians who weren’t really all that funny.  They were lousy shows.  We never had Bob Hope or any of the famous ones.  We just had guys who would come through and once in a while we would see a Navy nurse when she would be passing through.

Just had a glimpse.

Just a glimpse, never, there were no girls.  The show South Pacific used to bring back a lot of pleasant memories because that was what that kind of thing was this was the way we dressed, this was the way we looked and that’s the way it was.  It was a very interesting experience and I’m glad I had the experience.  I’m sorry I never got permanently on a ship because I liked ships.  I joined the Navy in the hope I got on a ship, but I never did.  But I had other friends in the same boat that were never on a ship.  I had guys in the Army that stayed in the States.  
In those days we didn’t want to stay out of the draft.  A lot of my friends wanted to be drafted.  I had two high school classmates who went up to Canada and joined the Royal Canadian Air Force.  It’s interesting, both of them stayed in and after they served in England with the Royal Air Force and when we came into the war they were able to transfer in rank into the Army Air Corps, which they did.  Both these guys stayed in the service and retired as Lieutenant Colonels after staying in the regular Air Force.  At my fiftieth reunion for high school I found out some of these fellows, one of my classmates and one fellow that was a year behind me, had both followed that route to Canada and the RAF.  They wanted to get into the war, which they did.  This was well before Pearl Harbor.  I had friends who spent the whole war in the States and I had, I lost six friends, cousins, friends.  One of my friends who was the most seriously wounded of all survived.  He was the co-pilot of a B-17 and very seriously injured with an anti-aircraft burst.  He had eighty transfusions and lost the use of an arm and he lost a lung and he was about a year to recover but what had happened, we lived on the South Side of Chicago in the Hyde Park neighborhood and there was a big, former residential hotel there, the Chicago Beach Hotel, which was right at 51st and the lake.  That had been taken over by the Army for a recuperation hospital and he spent about a year as an outpatient there recovering and while he did he was smart and he had graduated from Illinois and got his CPA just before he went in the Army and after the war, then he went to the University of Chicago because we were right in the neighborhood.  He lived a few blocks away and he went to law school.  My classmate and he became a very successful tax accountant even though he never fully recovered the use of the arm and he had one lung, but he lived a good life and he passed away just a few years ago.  He would go skiing and he played golf.  He was a great guy.  He was one of the people I’ve known who everybody liked, very popular guy and I’m sorry to say I don’t have that.  I can be pretty nasty.  People don’t like me but this guy was one of these great guys, ask anybody, oh yeah, great guy.  Joanne had a cousin who was the same way, everybody liked him.  Okay, I digress too much.  
No, no.

I don’t want to bore you.  

Not at all.  

I just thought any of these pictures that you might, this is, let’s see, I’m in the middle of this one in the first row but that is a Bomb Service Truck, which is like a, very much like a tow truck and it would pull bombs, once again, above one hundred pounds, they would be moved around on little carts, dollies, and that would pull a string of them out to wherever they were being loaded on the planes.  The guys would then hoist them up and put them in the bomb bays or on the wings, depending on the type of plane.  That was one of my bomber crews in, let’s see, these were a couple of guys, a couple of crazy guys.  They were pilots and that plane is what was called a JQF.  One of their duties was to go down to Rennell Island, which was right at the end of the Solomons and the Navy didn’t want any people there because they were trying to protect the natives from our diseases and this exposure.  His job was to fly a doctor down there, I think once a week he would fly a Navy doctor down to Rennell to make sure the natives were okay and see what was going on there.  He was in my outfit.  He was a character, but you don’t see many of those airplanes and you get a pretty good view of it.  It was an amphibian.
So it would land in the water.

It would land in the water.  This is what Manus looked like.

Are these Quonset huts here?

Yes, those are lodge Quonset huts.  Here, when I got up in the Admiralties, the little island of Ponam, our ordnance crew.  You can see the way we dressed.  

Pretty informal.

Yeah, there was our movie.
Oh, that’s your movie theater?  

Yeah, that was our movie theater and we used to get a lot of movies would be sent out and here are some natives, native Admiralty Islanders.  I’m sitting there with a, just sitting there holding a rifle.  We were hunting some ducks or something.  Some of them don’t have any clothes at all on but that’s the way it was.  When they sent me back to Jacksonville and I got home they used to take our picture like the ones would see at the post office.

Mug shot.

On the back it says Official Navy Photograph.  Give them credit.  But that was the way I looked at the time.  I still had some hair, but I was losing my hair.  I was only twenty two or twenty three.  I didn’t have any hair by the time I was thirty and this was me at the very end of the war after I had been promoted a couple of times.  

This was Washington, D.C.?

Yeah, that was in Washington, D.C. where I probably had the picture taken.  I probably was at Patuxent and this is the way we used to dress.  That was aviation winter working green and these were some other people at Patuxent.  There’s a picture of me and my roommate [Marv Kirsch] and that Navy nurse [Flo Wisniewski].  She was a nice gal.  She was a girl that had grown up in a coal mine town down in Pennsylvania and joined the Navy Nurse Corps to get away from the coal mine town.  She was a nice girl.  

Some great photographs.  

It was all I had.  I showed you this one.  Grabbed a few I thought might be of interest.  You can see I went from a pretty boring to . . . that was right after I was commissioned.  I hadn’t gotten dirty or anything else for a few years.  

[RJ]  He was apparently quite popular with the young cousins. 

Oh yeah.

Must have been very impressive.

This was something we got.  I guess the Navy sent all of us maps but there was absolutely no sign of the Admiralties.  You’d think nobody ever heard of the Admiralties.  We’ve got the New Hebrides and New Caledonia and the Gilberts and the Marshalls.

[RJ]  Is it an old article?

It was printed, I think it originally had been in National Geographic but this was put out by the Navy at the time and there were just maps of all the areas where we were but there’s no mention of the Admiralties.  Nobody’s ever seemed to refer to the Admiralties and I think they were taken really as an afterthought.  They decided that it would be more practical to go there because of the natural harbor at Manus and also they were a couple of hundred miles closer to the Philippines.  It was during the planning for the Philippines that they decided, oh, we better get the Admiralties, and they did.  Almost an accident, but you can’t find them.  When we were, when we visited the WWII museum down in New Orleans because my oldest son was there and we looked at maps all over the Pacific, they’ve got them in there but nobody tells you what they are.  They’ve got the names of the individual islands but nobody said these were the Admiralty Islands.  They were a British protectorate and their primary purpose was they were taken to provide a jumping off place for the Philippine re-invasion.  They had this magnificent natural harbor.  What?  Where?  Never heard of the place.  

[RJ] What were the individual islands?

In New Orleans they showed the individual islands, the big ones, Manus and Los Negros were the main ones, but the little islands which were around it, they don’t even mention.  Ponam, where I was, was a little island.  Like I said, it had a three thousand foot runway, so we were just lucky.
Now he was able to get off?

Oh yeah, we got off and they were able to takeoff.  I didn’t know how they were able to do that but they taxied all the way back to the other end so they could get the wind and they were able to takeoff.  It’s crazy.  These two guys were a couple of characters.  We were looking around and saw this plane sitting there and we said was there any way we could get a ride down to Ponam, which was about forty miles away.  He said “Yeah, we’ll go.  Hold on, I’ll get a guy.  Hey Charlie.”  These two guys, I assumed they were pilots; they weren’t wearing anything except shorts and sun hats.  So one of them got in and the other one stood by with the fire extinguisher at the right engine and the first guy, he yells out “Activate the starboard airscrew!  Turned on the engine, once the right engine’s on and the generator’s on, you can start the left engine.  So the other guy says “C’mon, lets run down to Ponam.  We’ll see what’s going on.”  The other guy gets in and the two of us are sitting in the back and there’s a great big empty R4D, because they had taken out all the upholstery and all that stuff, the civilian stuff and they give us a ride down there and we’re circling around and the guy calls into the tower and he says what are the landing instructions.  He says, “Are you gonna land that thing?  We’ve never had one that big before.”  All right, where’s the wind.  He came down to the end of the runway.  These two nuts took off then they taxied back and took off again, so I guess they got back to Los Negros intact.  That was it, we’d arrived in Ponam and then they sent a jeep for me to help me with the baggage.  I was there for the next few months.  Everything was very informal there was none of the, no spit and polish.  We never wore whites or anything like that.  We usually wore khaki uniforms but there was one period when for some reason or another Admiral King, who was the Chief of Naval Operations, decided we should have uniforms that were better adapted towards hiding, so we could be camouflaged.  Camouflaged?  He decided and they made the officers’ uniforms grey and we’d been wearing khaki uniforms.  So we all had to go out and buy a grey uniform.  I have a snapshot at home of me in my stupid grey uniform.  Nobody wanted to wear them and then we had to go and get hat covers and shoulder boards with grey with black stripes.  They were the most ridiculous thing.  By the end of the war nobody was wearing the grey things anymore.  We were back into khakis.  I think we gave my grey uniform to the Salvation Army immediately after the war.  It was just ridiculous. If Admiral King said you’ve got to do it, then you’ve got to do it because Admiral King was very famous in the Navy . . .
He had a temper.

Temper.  General Eisenhower once said that the best way to establish communication between the services would be to shoot Admiral King!  But Admiral King was a favorite of President Roosevelt.  But the story in the Navy was that he had only been home eight times.  He had eight daughters, but nobody ever said it to his face.  Okay, I’ve bored my wife obviously and I suspect my son.  Whatever you want, have I given you any useful information?

Oh no, you have some great stories.  One thing I wanted to ask you about, was you mentioned your father was also in WWI?  What did he do in WWI?

He was in WWI and he was in what was called the Sanitary Corps.  It was like a medical corps.  He was a 2nd Lieutenant.

[RJ] In the Army?  He was in the Army in WWI and the Navy in WWII.

He went to medical school between the wars, finished, and then he joined the Naval Reserve just shortly before Pearl Harbor.  But he was established and he was a Lieutenant Commander and when he came out he was a four-stripe captain at the end of the war.  He was at Navy Pier originally, then he was sent up to a boot camp that was established up in Idaho, up at the end of Idaho.  Then from there he was assigned to a hospital ship and the ship was the first one into Tokyo Bay after the surrender.  He was the chief of laboratories because he was a pathologist, so he had to do everything else.  He loved his ship.  He was a plank owner of the ship, which was completed in Philadelphia.  He was at sea a good part of the last year of the war.  Hospital ships were very popular because they were not only beautiful, white ships but they were all air-conditioned.  Air-conditioning was rare so they would get visits from many distinguished people.  They had Admiral Halsey, Admiral Nimitz was on board and of course they would really roll out the red carpet because these were five star admirals and they were among the few in history.  He was very happy, very proud of the ship and it was one of five in the so called Haven class.  They were all, of course, mothballed after the war, which most of the ships were.  She was being refitted to be used in Korea and there was a collision in San Francisco Bay with a freighter, which was very sad.  A nurse was killed.  She was the only injury aboard but the ship went down.  The ship is sitting on the bottom of San Francisco Bay.
Still there?

I don’t know.  I have no idea if they may have recovered it.  When I first flew in over Manus, when I was coming in after Los Negros and here in the middle of the harbor at Manus there were masts sticking out and we circled over and “What’s that?”  It was the USS Mount Hood, which was an ammunition ship which had blown up in the harbor with all hands.  It was kind of a sad story but the masts were still sticking out of the water.  Then you realize it’s not all fun and games.  People do get hurt.  The entire crew was lost.  That would happen when an ammunition ship blew up.  It wasn’t much fun.  
No.

Like when a carrier was wrecked there was a lot of additional damage because of all the fuel and the ammunition that they had to carry.  Sometimes they would, I guess when the jeeps were being attacked by the Japanese battleships in Leyte Gulf one of the first things they did was just dump the torpedoes over the side.  You didn’t want them going off.  Pretty serious for a lot of people.  As I said, I’m one of the lucky majority that came home in one piece.  Some didn’t.  As far as I’m concerned they’re the real heroes, the ones that didn’t come home.  That’s all there is.  Now I’m old and I can’t do the things, I’m not in my twenties anymore.  Along with my hair.
We all go through that.

Oh yeah.  I’ve been like this since before Dick was born.  Sadly enough my sons all inherited my hair genes and Joanne’s height genes.  

[RJ]  Thanks!

Anything else you’d like to share with us today?

No, anything you might find interesting?

This whole . . .

My story isn’t very interesting.

No, it was very interesting.

I suspect mine is more like most.  Most that you read about was mostly, what is it, hours of nothing and then a few seconds of terror.

Sheer terror.

But the boredom, the hurry up and wait is part of the package no matter what branch of the service you were in or where you were.  You spent an awful lot of time with nothing serious to do.  You were available.  We were like the fire department.  We were there if we were needed but a lot of the time you’re just sitting and waiting.  That’s the way it was.  We would get a carrier that would keep us real busy for a while and we would do some fixing and repairing and replacing of guns that were fired too long and put things back together and occasionally a bomb would come flying or something like that, which was very scary, but other than that, I’m still here.  I think I mentioned when we first came at the time . . .

Anything else?  Okay, thank you so much for sharing your memories with us today.  Thank you very much.  

I appreciate it; I’ll take back my dog tags.

